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A Century To Rcemcmber

When Illinols became a state in 1818, the wey was clcarcd for
more settlers to move into the remote areas of the staste. So it vas
between 1818 snd 1850 thet settlers were penctrsting into the arca
north of Chicago, even thougch no white ran could settle in Lake County
without the permission of the indians who hecld possession.

The noble prairie rrass which could hidc a horsc end rider in its
heigcht and density and mede a better thateched roof than did the
shingles of the day was losing its battle for survivel to the plow
s?are of the ploneer. For, once turned over, it would ncver arain
rlae.

The me jestic oroves, eazch like an islsnd risin- above the nrairie
grass, wcere now shcltering homes of the pioneecrs, where once only wild
life or a summcr cncampént of indiens found warmth and seccurity
nestled in their density.

The indian trails, too, hac¢ .widened out into roasds becering the
heavy wagons and oxen of the pioneccrs. ‘ilweukee Avenue was known g8
liilwaukkee Plank Road, going from Chicaro through Half Day, Liberty-
ville, (then Independencc Grove), snd on to ilwaukee.

By 1835 pioncers cest their ballots in a polling place six miles
south of '‘hecling.

In the Patent Office Report on Apriculturc for 1850-1851, John C.
Cox of Quincy, Adams County, Illinois, states: "The aversge intelli-
gence (of the people of Illinois) is worthy of particular notice,
being inferior to no scction I have seen in the Union.

""oral character is highly spprcciated. Good-fellowship among
neighbors, and general interest in country affairs, arc marked strong-
ly in our society. Neatness sbout the homestcad is receiving gratify-
ing attention, evinced by the cultivation of shadec treces, shrubbery,
flowers, and garden fruits, such as berrics, etc. The means, howecver,
of a great number src insufficient yet to enable them to crect such
dwellings &s are desireablec. Economy, too, is a Sucker virtue. Labor
i1s, in the main, fairly e~»nloyed, and the lsborers treated with de-
serving consideration; sverare warcs, asbout $8 a month, with board and
washing.

"The German population are ceneraslly excellent farwmcrs, send, with
the help of their wonderful frugality and industry, almost invariably
succeed rapidly."

Thus, the early scttlers of Illinois were gpparently equaling the
tradition cstablished by the Illini indians,--For the literal inter-
pretation of the Indian word "I1llini" -.eans "men," and the French
added the "ois" ending making the whole meaning of the word: "Tribe
of real men'"--as distinguished from the Iroquois Tndians whom the
I11inl called bcasts.

The flights of the Passonger Pigeons, those hure birds that mi-
crated throuch the plains in flocks so vast that they darkened the
sun as they flcw south in the fall, devastating any crop whcn they
stopped for the night, had ceased. So many wecre their numbers and so
large were their wings that the beat of the wings as they flew was
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‘During the early 1860's oil lernvps without chimneys were coming
into use and on ilay 4, 1861, fourteen volunteers from Wheeling went
to join the Union Rifle Guards st Camp Fry.

When the North wes victorious in 1865, the news was told to the
vicinity by those who returned from Chicago to 'heeling. Powder was
placed on an anvil and when it wes struck, the resulting explosion
could be heard for seversl miles.,

Illinois was the first state to rstify the 13th Amendment abol-
ishing slavery. Less than three months lster, the mortal remains of
President Abraham Lincoln lay in state in the Chicago Court House en
route to Springfield for buriel,.

The 1860's were exciting times: The first successful Trans-
oceanic cable was laid from New Foundland to Ireland. The city of
Chicago had built & trensvortation tunnel under the Chicago River to
connect the south and west sides of the city. The east and west
coasts of America were linked at Ogden, Utah, when the Union Pacific
and Central Pacific tracks were joined. Just imagine, only 63 days to
cross the continent from California to New York; when, less than 30
years before, the founders of our community had snent 35 to 40 days
at the mercy of the winds on the ocean, then & 3 week overland trip
from New York!

The inhabitants of the Wheeling area saw the need for a church
somewhat closer than those which were seversl miles awsy. So it was
in October of 1864, the members of the Germsn Evangelical United Re-
formed and Lutheran Church under the leadership of the Revercnd F. C.
Schwartz apnlied to the Presbytery of Chice-o to become united with
and be one of the Presbyterian Church of the United 3States of America,
This organization became complete on November 2, 1864, and the members
of the new conrrepation called their group the German Presbyterian
Zion Church. The first meetings were held in the school house which
stood in the grove of trees where the shopning center is now located
in the approximste position of the Jewel Food Store. The membership
grew rapidly and in 1865, the church was comnleted on the Dundee Road
site, directly across from the school grounds.

At a stated meeting of the North Presbyterian Church, Chicago, on
April 11, 1865, the name of Zion Church (German) with 45 members, 4
Elders, and 4 Deacons was entered upon the rolls, and an Elder from
the church, Jacob Glos, appeared and took his seat in Presbytery.

Shortly thereafter, the Reverend C. F. Waldecker became the sec-
ond pastor of our church. In 1866, he recorded the passing of Salome
Murbach, age 33 years, 1 month, and 5 deys ss the first death within
the Church family. One year later, he also recorded the first church
wedding: that of John Murbach and Sersh Retterer. It was with a
heavy heart that he recorded the nassing of Frank Edward "aldecker,
his infent son. His tenure wss filled with busy days. They must have
been productive days, too, for the church debt was wiped out during
his pastorate.

Historicelly, an event took place thet wss to change the area
for penerations. Early morning on Saturday, October 8, 1871, a fire
had started in a stable in Chicapo. The fall of the year had been ver
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on September lst, the Elders tendered their resirnstion and request-
ed that the Pastor read the formzl notice fror the Pulpit. On Septem-
ber 15th no Juorum was present to constitute s lawful Session to
take action in the above matter, so seven men were apnointed by the
Pastor to act as a Comittee and if necessary, nominate candidates for
Elders "and tcke such steps ss they deem proper for the sake of
Christ's Fingdom of this Place."

This situation wss very serious. The com ittee of seven men had
8 hard job before them, for on their shoulders rested the burden of
reweaving the torn mentle covering those who were pert of Christ's
kingdom. The rules were made, and the rule which was causing the
controversy seemed to be the portion covering the infant baptisms.
It was like condemning & babe who wss here in our midst to becoming

& heathen.

On September 26th the committes apprarently analized the situation
completely, for they wrote the following resolutions:

I - Resolved to keep up the Organization
IT - ggsgor ordered to carry out the rules passed on “arch 175
III Committee did not accept the resignation of the Elders
IV - The Session is to collect twice 2 year for the money for
the Pastor's salary that didn't come in regularly and that
He ‘be paid his dey wazes from the treasury of the conpgre-
gation.

Thus, the groundworl: wes 1laid for the con'regation to continue.
However, these were some hard rules to live with, and obviously, some
of the members hsd a hard time living with themselves. So many times
a tense situation emerges in such a manner: e all know what should
be done, but can it be done and still have anything left?

So it wes, by llay of 1879 when the records show the dismal fail-
ure of the earlier resolution. The record of -ay 27th is so beauti-
fully worded that we quote:

"The Resolution of liarch 17, 1878, cannot be carried without
doing injury to the church and concregation. Resolved that the Res-
olution be withdrawn and the trestment of such cases be committed to
the discretion of and wisdom of the Pastor."

The storm had subsided, and as the invigorating new atmosphere
filled the area, a unanimous call wss extended to I're VVilliam R.
llundhenke to assume the pestoral labor of the church. "r. ITundhenke
must have had scholarly attributes, for the record shows that the
Session gave him perrission to comply with a request by the Presbyter-
ial llissionary to write an article on the condition of and general
work in this field, which asrticle to he published in the Tissionary
column of "The Interior."

New interest was stimulsted in our orranization. In 1880 it was
decreed that Lord's Supver should be celebrated 3 times in the year,
Lst Sabboth in October--2nd s3sbboth in Januery--and Good Friday. Also
parents requesting infant bantis~ should notify the pastor in time
for him to question and/or instruct themw nrivately regarding the
nature and design of Christian Bantism,



7
Fund for the relief of the a-~ed snd disshled minlsters, and urge upon
the people, esnecially the well-to-do a“on~ vs, to contribute to this
cause. Our contributions could not heve heen too much for it VER]
about this ss:re time thet it wes resolved within our church and pre-
sented to the neople that esch clft in the weel:ly collection for de-

grayigg of the running exnenses of the church should be increszsed to
cents.,

November 3, 1889, the Silver Anniversary of our Church! What
joy and happiness abounded in and esround our church! The problems
were put aside for the time being. Services, both morning and even-
ing, were crowded. The messares civen were a blessing to all, and
good wishes were extended to the effect that "May the Church enter
upon the second quarter of o century of its life with new purpose

and zesl."

Yes, the era that has gone down in history as "The Gay Nineties"
was here. True, events were taking place that have had a lasting
effect on the nation, snd on the world. New inventions: Eastman
perfected film in 1889 and idison pronptly put it to use in an instru-
ment known as & kinetoscone which was the fore-runner of motion pic-
tures. Automobiles were perfected snd in use. It was an age of in-
spiration to those who were in contact with the events of the day.
The world of rusic wzs enriched by the works of Tchaikovsky, Dvorsk,
Rimsky-lorsakov, Sibelius, and Richerd "acner. Chicago was the host
to the Columbian Exposition, a World's Fzir honoring the 400th Anni-
versary of Columbus' arrivsl ‘n the New World. This snectacle has
long been the talk of our sncestors. It was a white city,~--every
building being white, and the architecture ~zde the buildings all
compatible in design. The Museum of Science and Industry is a living
memorial to the peonle of this day of that World's Fair. The Nobel
prizes awarded for the outstanding contributions to Physies, Chemis-
try, Medicine, Letters, and Inter-nationsl Peace were established by
the will of Swedish Stientist, Alfred Nobhel. Indeed, an exciting
world if you were in tune with the hsvpenings. ilost of these things
were for those who lived in urban sreas. Our colony of people, Jjust
25 miles north of Chica;o did not know of the Gay Nineties. They
were much too busy with everyday living, such as keepin: the farm
well tilled and laying up sufficient food to keep the family through
the long winter. The pioneer hardshins of farm life had not eased
to the point of where people could think of luxuries, and perhaps
some of the folks of the community were not even aware of the growing
use of some of the so-called "luxuries" of the dey.

Several events of our church which are worthy of note during
"The Hineties" cover the redesigning of the pulvnit area by making the
raised platform deeper and wider so that the ornan could be nlaced on
the platform. Iioney must have been scarce, for in 1895, the member-
ship was canvassed by the officers who solicited subseriptions for
the Pastor's salery. One of the trustees was amnointed to collect
the amount due with fair wages beins allowed him for those services.

Again the langusge problem comes under scrutiny. It is recommen
ed thet the Sabboth School be conducted in the Enslish languarce and
that the new methode of tecching the Bible be adopted. However, the
Session feared such radical change would peet with disfavor, so 1t
was decided to maintain the German Lzn-us-~e with both teachers and
pastor requested to devote more tire to help the students acqulre
the German lasnguage. Anpesrently Minnie Welflin Bslling knew her
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bullding. The Session elso received & letter from the Reverend 'ill-
iam Boe%cher, nastor of the CGerman Presbytericn Church of Shelbyville,
Indiana, requesting help towards buvilding & new house of worshin. It
was decided to give them finenclal ass®stance after being more fully
informed of the plan of said church.

On June 27, 1905, Henry Wiegand wzs ordained in our church, and
became its psstor. Regular contributions to the mission work of the
church was established and in November 1206, out of a mission fund of
126433, (4,36 went to the Presbyterien Hospitsl of Chicaso, and $9,97
to "Selbsterhaltungs Sache," which seems to be a self-help fund of
the Presbytery.

In 1908, our church becs e a member of the Galena Presb;tery,
probably because they were basically the German group. Here at our
church the new hot air furnace was installed. A new organ was also
installed. Ah, such sweet sounds when it was pronerly played! Oh,
yes, it was during this time that a new choir alcove was built and
opers-type chalirs renlaced the uncomfortable pews. The melodic
tones of the Reverend "'iegand's voice were an inspiration to the choir
and to all who heard him. It wes during his pastorate that the
choir of Zion Presbyterian Church greatly enriched the services of
the church.

During the period of 1910 to 1912, the first locally owned auto-
mobiles appeared in the village. The Sigwalts nurchased a Stanley
Steamer and gave their nei-hbors snd friends rides,--the trip being
from Wheeling to Half Day 2nd return. Soon afterwards, John Schminke
purchesed a Ford. He, too, -ave round-trip rides from “heeling to
Half Day, pesusings briefly in Half Day to "let the motor cool off."

The Fiftieth Anniverssry was celebrated in 1914, with the details
handled by the Ladies Aid. It is a note of interest to see by their
records that the Reverend 'illis~ R. "undhenke, the Reverend Oltman
B. Oltmans, former pestors, and :'rs. Zrnest Shvette, the wife of a
former pastor, were invited to attend the snecisl services in April
with all expenses naid. The Ladies Aid aslso helped procure photos
of charter menbcrs and former pastors.

By 1915, electricity wes availa™le to the church, snd the Ladies
Aid Society were thanked by the consregation for ~eeting the expenses
of wiring the church and install ng electrical fixtures.

Yes, it was ever thus, things near to one slways have a deeper
effect than do the events that ;o into history books. ~"hy, in 1914,
the Panama Canal wes ovened for world traffic. Everyone is willing
to acknowledge that this wss a grest engineering feat, but out inter-
est quickens even faster when ililwaukee Ave. wss paved from Niles to
Dundee Road. It w-s about this time when telenhone service wes ex-
tended out of ‘'heeling. There were 8 parties on a line. This was
sone advancement, for when the Deerfield srea first had televhones,
it took 10 subscribers for a line. It w-s during the winter of 1917
that the snow was so very deep! Our perents tell us that not a wheel
turned on the rosd for 3 deys, and to avoid being caught in the barn
with all paths leeding to the house closed by drifts, shovels were
kept in the house and in the barn so that paths could be shoveled
from either end.

Our parents, or rerhans our prendnarents alweys tend to vause
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The name of lirs. Conrad Reeb was entered on the roll of Church
members, and now she has achieved the distinction of being the oldest
living church member.

The post-war economy ran high. Chicsro wzs ~rowing outward.
Motor cars were com on now, even thouch, in the country, horses and
bugzgies were still in use. The local business district still had
hitehing nosts and it wes not st all uncomron to see a stailr-step
platform used to assist the ladies into the carriages.

Milwaukee Avenue was "eing paved north of Dundee Road, Oh, what
a fascinating thing to wateh! The roazd bed was dug out and smoothed
by slip scraners nulled by mules. Forms were laid to mark the roasd
edge and then, richt next to the side of the road were the rails of
a miniature train. At regulsr intervals, a little steam engine known
as a "dinky" came down the trscli:s. It pulled a whole string of little
cars, each cerrying its sn~ointed quantity of materisl for s batch of
concrete. These inrcredients were dumped into the cavity of a huge
mixer where they churned for what seemsd lilie likke sn endless time,
when all at once, an eruntion took nlace and =11 of the zrey soupy
mixture flowed into the area delinested by the steel forms. It was
tamped and smoothed and finally covered by cenvass, wstsred down and
left to season. The crew were resvectable men and the night watchman
loved children. i'ore than once he shared a snmecial candy treat from
his lunch box with sowe child. It wa2s on this crew thet one of the
boys of our church "nitched" about his are so that he could be the
water boy.

1924 wss a memorable year. A new gasoline driven fire engine
was purchassed to renlace the hand pumper which had been in use since
1876. that a chanrel The old puaiper was desizned to be drawn by
horses snd to be ~anned by twelve men, six per side working in a
teeter-totter manner like the rsilroad hand cars. 'ith the retire-
ment of the old pumper, hose cart, end ladder trucl, came the legend-
ary tales of the volunteer firemen. .hen the bell atop the old vill-
age hall reang to sound the alarm of "fire," men swermed to the statio:
grabbed the poles of the equinment snd ran down the street to the
scene of the fire. Frequently, the pumner wes attached to the only
fire plug in Wheeling, located at the corner of “ilwaukee Avenue and
Dundee Road where it was tapped into the pive line that extended from
the Soo Line pwming station next to the river to the water tower at
Wheeling Station, then lrnown ss Cap Twenty. Of course, if the fire
was interesting, the men onerating the pumper wight leave their post
eand go to see how the fire was progressing until the hose handlers
would yell "water," and send the pumn operators scurrying back to
their nosts.

The old elementary school, where the congregation held its first
meetings had its last pgrzdusting class in 1925, In Septerber, all
classes were over at the present Walt Whitwman school.

On i‘arch 12, 1926, the Lsdies Aid Society of Wheeling brought
three lovely bouquets to iirs. Basrbara Lesser in honor of her 90th
birthday. Her husband, Philip Lesser, had been an elder of our churc
for over 30 yecars. In July, the church wes struck by lizhtning, and
the splendid spire wes ruined. The cost of renlacing it was pro-
hibitive in relation to the means of the Treasury, so the bell tower
was roofed over without a steeple. Although everyone regretted the
loss of the steenle, many people were relieved thast its height did



_ 13
done, =and at times 1t wss very gretifying to see a horse relieved of
pain from a tender foot.

The funerel custo's, too, chan;ed sharoly. Ilany people remember
the horse-drawn hearse dravned in black carrying the casket of the de-
ceased; and if the deceased hsonened to be a church member, the bell
was tolled in striect cadence the exact years of the decessed's life.

Thus, we have this neriod when horse-drawn vehicles were still
common on the streets, and ilr, Welflin would take time to fill a little
bag of cendy for the youngsters from his Lazy-susan candy counter near
the back of his General Store. Yet, many of us can recall taking our
first airplene ride with Charles "Chuck" Balling hsndling the controls
in his open cockpit Tlaco biplene. The Stutz Bearcat wss the most!
Weges were high, as was the economy, when all at once the bubble burst,
and as Wwe entered the 1930's the:.economy had hit an unheard of low.

It wasn't how much you earned, it was just to have a job!

The area in the liiddle ' est in and around Chicapgo was hurt ex-
tensively by the denression.

This was the period that the Reverent E. Leslie Shaw served as
our pastor. Inasmuch as he was not married, the manse was rented out.
The sheds which had been constructed to shelter the horses and later
sheltered the canvass tops of the automobiles, were removed and re-
placed by a garage.

Jig saw puzzles were the favorite form of home entertainment, and
on special occasions, we micht be permitted to pgo to the movies to see
Shirley Temple.

lloney was spent sparingly, but the church kitchen was remodeled
and both the church and the manse were repsinted in 1933.

It was during 1932 thet a second World's Fair opened on the lake-
front in Chicaro. The exnosition wes named "A Century of Progress,"
in honor of the 100th enniverssry of the pioneers in this area. The
architecture was done in the modern theme and quite s let-down for
those who remembered the 1893 lorld's Fair. The exhibits were wonder-
ful, and during the second year of the Fair, the breath-takingly beau-
tiful "Chalice of The Holy Grail" wss on display in the Hall of Relig-
ion. It was in 1934 thst the Chicaro Zoolorical Garden, locally known
as Brookfield Zoq opened its doors.

We thrilled to the ilational Air Races held at Glenview at the new
Curtiss Field. Who can forzet the sizht of the mass parachute jumps,
or the special races for large planes. At the end of each race, the
winning pilot might put on an acrobatic display. It was thrilling to
wateh the regulation racers dart sround the pylons, but few of us will
ever forget the sight of the tri-motor Ford looping-the-loop!

In 1936, the great German Zepplin, "The Hindenburg" visited Chiecs
go, and although it did not come north of the city, we could see it,
& huge silver cigar floating along, as it left the city to the south-
west.

We welcomed the Reverend Doneld C. llorrison in 1937. The general
economy had improved, but money was still very scarce. Under his
guidance, memoriel windows were contributed snd installed in the churc
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houses,--we can not help but asli ourselves as time hurries on: "What

will the next century bring, snd just what tyne of age will it be ?"
But wait! Tixe does not hurry on;--te hurry on 2nd time is Lternal,.
That which is Lternal comes of God! Shell we nray?
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Many times during his pastorate here, he rave his thanks that the
church wes clear of long-term debt.

In 1941, on New Year's Day, lirs. llagdalene Redlinger, a member of
our church, celebrated her 100th birthday. By December, our country
was again involved in wer., Rationing of every kind was imposed, and
we bid L.r. l'orrison "Godspeed" in 1942, when he left to join the
Cheplein Corps of the Army. Many of the young men of our church had
already nut in many months of service overseas, People here at home
were busy at war work in factories and saving for the future with Var
Bonds. The war ended for many of our men in 1945, and once agaln we
had to adjust to peace-time living. Commodities became easier to ob-
tain, and by 1949, the entire area was involved in a building boom.

Television had been perfected for use in the home, and many sets
were installed end enjoyed in our ares. This was one factor in bring-
ing urban activities closer to us. Another factor was the building
boom. Little by little, the farms that our parents or our grand=-
parents had worked so hard to pay for were being sold and a new sub-
division would start. Wheeling became the fastest growing community
in Illinois. The populstion jumped from 750 to over 10,000 inhabit-
snts. 7ith the heavy influx of nonulstion, the old gave way to the
new. A shopping center was constructed scross from the church. The
town hall and fire station were now located next to the church.
Traffic passing by on Dundee Road wes so noisy during the summer that,
at times, the minister had to stop sneaking in order for the congre-
gation to hear his messare.

The decade of the 1950s had closed the chapter on the use of
steam locomoties on the railroads. Diesel locomotives becsme the ac-
tive power units. UNew horizons were opened to us all when we watched
the man-made Russian satellite "Sputnik" on its anvointed overhead
orbit. Toll roads snd expressways were now constructed to handle the
traffic. O'Hare Field wss in use for non-stop ocesnic jet flights.,

A1l of these things are so very close to us that sometimes we
overlook their imnortance! Another event which wss even closer to us
wes the finsncing, construction, end the ovening of our new church on
December 23, 1962. As we entered our new sanctuary on Christmas Eve,
our thoughts returned to the austere chanel on Dundee Road. We could
not help but reflect back to the memory of the beautiful Christmas Eve
condlelight service. It wes always lovely in its simplicity, for no
service could be pretentious in that structure where we were surround-
ed by constant reminders of the humbleness of our ancestors. Thus, it
wss with mixed emotions that we entered the new sanctuary for our
Christmas-time devotions. Suddenly we knew thst it would take the
efforts of each member of our church to bring those humanly qualities
of warmth, understanding, love, snd humility into this new structure.
Some of our members had already left their mark on the sanctuary in
the design and execution of the chancel furniture, the wood carvings,
the lettering, the Celtic cross, and the dove atop the Bapntismal font.
Others enchanced the services through their work in the choir. Crad-
ually, each member will find his s»not for that extra bit that makes a
structure a "home." 1ay we find the threads to add to the tapestry
to help complete the nicture. _

‘The wonders that a century of time doth bring! From oxen to
orbitting the Zarth,--from gun-powder messages to Telstar satellite,-
from earthen floor cabins and wood stoves to centrsllyheated insulate:
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not add to the problems of aviation, for our community now had one
established sirnort and cnother wes talked of.

In June of 1927, the resignstion of Mr. Wiegsnd was accepted
and he wes succesded by the Reverend E. Leslie Shaw,

Nineteen twenty-seven was an eventful yesr! In lMay, Charles
Augustus Lindbergh flew non-stop from New York to Paris in a plane
sbout the size of & Piper Cub. Wheeling lost its small-town charm
when the trees were re~oved to nermit "ilwsukee Ave. to be widened
to four lsnes. Oh, how thst traffic had increased} During the summe:
season we had seen treffic jams that extended more than 10 miles.
llotorists drove on the shoulder of the rosd, Cars seemed to be every-
where. The dust on the shovlders lay so deep during the summer that
when an automobile stirred it up, no one could walk or sit in the
front yard of the hoiies that lined the hishwey. This was the year
that we first heard of a machine called & "combine." It cut and
threshed oats in one operation. This new contraption harvested 40
acres of grein in one day using only 3 menl

Yes, the days of the large threshing crews were numbered. What
a time that was on the farm. There was always the anxiety of the
exact day thet the hous-wife must be ready, for the weather was just
apt to be contrary and if it wes too damp or too wet, nothing moved!
Then the crew arrived. First e wsgon or two, then the off-beat
"nlump" of the terrifying tractor, followed by the thresher creaking
on its axles. In due time, thresher and tractor were nroperly align-
ed, orders were siven to all children to stay away from the belt, and
finally everything wss in motion. The machine shook, the engine
quivered and emitted puffs of smoke, and the chaff flew, but, oh, the
fun of riding on the filled grain wagon! Of course, just a few years
ago, the grain wes bagsed end had to be cerried, sack by sack, into
the granary; but now it wes run loose into a ti~ht-boxed wagon and
carried to the elevetor where it was mechenically raised into the bins
in the gransary.

The kitchen buzzed! Bread and pies were made. lleat was cooking.,
Endless cobs of corn viere husked, or huge bowls of cabbage were shaved
for slaw. The table was snresd to full length and covered by a derk
cloth so the men wouldn't be embarassed if they got so0il from their
shirtsleeves on it. Then they descended,--like hungry wolves. Food
was devoured in record time without sny ceremony, send only a small
amount of conversation. Vhat mother wouldn't have done for some of
‘the kitchen conveniences of today!

The decade of the 1920's was a period of contrasts. Wheeling
still had its blacksmith shops for horse-shoeing and iron work. The
children of the villege passed many idle hours watching the blacksmiti
at his work, painstekingly shaping iron to renlace a broken brace.

He knew just when to force eir into his fire by pumping the huge
bellows that hung nearby, and he knew, too, when the crude iron rod
was resdy to be shaped. How fasscinating to watch that rod take on the
scorlet glow of deep heat, followed by the sizzling boil of water as
it was "dunked" into the cooling vat after it had been shaped. It
wezs interesting, too, to sce a horse getting a pair of shoes, Giant
chisels trimmed the hoof; the "frog" of the foot was cleaned out: the
shoe carefully fitted and finally nailed into plsce with larpge nails.
This sounds somewhat like a weird ritual, yet it wss painstakingly
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and reflect on this age from the late 1890's to 1917. As senlor
"citizens, they reflect back snd sey that to them it glistens as a
Golden Age. They have very valid reasons for their reflections and
fortg?e imeges that they see, and it is not yearning for one's lost

you

During the 20 years just nast, the people lived by a high moral
code of conduct. Life did not move at such a fast pace as it did in
the years followlng. There wes t.me for religion, time to work, and
time to play. Social events were less frequent than in later years
and everyone attended them. Families asttended from the youngest to
the eldest. The word "baby-sitter" wass unknown. The rursl commun-
ities enjoyed a wholesomeness thaet is indeed scmething to envy, for
intermingled with wholesorneness was the deep humility of resnect for
one's self snd for your nei-hbor. Those who had received personal
gain due to a steady job, and st the time, those who worked steadily
and conscientiously could end up as executives, and those who bene-
fitted because of the sdventape of more education did not tend to show
snobbishness because, nerhans, they were still too close to the un-
sophisticated job of msking a living from the land.

A very difficult and unusuel situation occurred in 1216 when a
retition in behalf of the wife of & Civil Var veteran was presented.
The pastor recorded 1872 on the church record as the date of the
marriage of these two peonle, However, the certificate given to the
bride and groom showed the date the marriace wss solemnized as 1869.
This lady needed the date verified in ap»lying for the pension due
her as the widow of the late Civil Var veteian. Session considered
. the matter cerefully and found that they were powerless to help her,
or to straighten out the record. They decided thst the 1872 date was
‘in error, but also concluded that our records would not meet the de-
mands of the government were they to be altered, also, they decided
~that it would be improper for the pastor to swesr to a record after
the same had been altered.

Then ceme Vorld Viar I! Illany men of the area went to war. Some
didn't come back, others came back very changed snd very restless.
Women, too, had taken on an entirely new rold,--that of gainful em-
ployment outside the home. Home was chaned, too. The influenza
epidemic of 1918 had tsken many lives.

Yes, even the church services and the snnual meeting were omittec
from Janucry 1, through Januery 27th. EFarlier in that ssme year, a
congregational committee consisting of Elder Lesser, !irs., E. Porte,
and Deacon John A, Schminke were sopointed to attend Presbytery to
inform it that the church did not concur in "r, ‘iegand's request for
the dissolution of the nastoral reletionship. ''r. Y'legand remained
with out church.

This was the same year that our church took action to sever
connections with Geslena Presbytery end return to Chicarso Presbytery.
During the year, the use of the German languare was dropped from the
services.

The use of individusl Communion cups and the envelopne system
for contributions were adopted in 1€17. By 1919 efforts were made to
start the Youth Budget system. This system met with only a limited
success.



8
Bible well in CGermen, for this wcs the year she wess eccepted into
membership.

This same yesr, 1897, the purchese of 2 sdditionsl small pleces
of property adjoining the church wss considered, snd if the cost was
not more than $150 with the present owner agreeing to wailt for pay-
ment for 6 months after the dete of »nurchase withouvt interest, the:
deal would be made. The owner azreed to these terms end the purchsase
wes consumsted. IHowever, when these 2 newly scquired pieces of nron-
erty were bheinc co-ordineted with the niece of vronerty thet the
church slrezdy owned, it wss discovered that the location of the
church's resl estete wzs incorrectly described. The Trustees were
riven snecial orders cherging them with the resnonsibility of getting
this situation strairhtened out snd to nersonally see to it that the
Warrenty Deed wes recorded in the Cook County Recorder's office.

In due time the reel estate wss prooerly recorded and the old
barn on the pronerty wss to be torn down snd the lumber to be used
for the building of sheds, for this wes the ers when families travel-
ed to church znd elsewhere via horss &end bugoy. Ten sheds were bullt
on the newly acquired nrooerty. 3talls were © fect wide and there
wes 20 feet under roof.

As the Twentieth Century started, thet which wss new wss srad-
vally erodins the old. The word "jsnitor" sopears in the record
where the word "Sexton" had formerly been used, and, under the leader=-
shin of a new pnastor, 3uncsy evening services were started with every
third meetin- to be in Enrlish. UNew son: books were nurchesed be=-
cause the old tyne hed rone out of nrint. 4L new orren wes nurchesed
snd the old orgen w:s sold to the hithest bidder. There wis slso 2n
anneal made for sn orgenist. i

Shortly, theresfter, & winsore youns lady of fourteen yesrs of
are resnonded to the a»neal. So it wes that Lasure Ott, now i'rs.
Ioebelin, became the rezulsr orgenist. Insspmuch &s her home was off
of Huehl Rosd east of 'heelling, she steyed in Wneelling Sundey after-
noon in order to he there for the evening song service. S0 much did
she enjoy vlsying the orcen, thot she wes willin- to wall: 8ll of that
distence for mid-weelr choir rehesrsal. 30 grest wscs her ability that
she wzs the regulsr orgenist for over thirty yesrs, end so grest was
her mastery of the orgen that she —~layed a five manuel orgsn for Lyon
agd H?aly. These factors laid the foundation for -~ood music in our
church.

It is recorded that ""iss Adeline Schneider became a member of
the church during this time.

In 1902, the decision was made to tske collections every first
Sebboth of the month instee” of only four collections for the entire
year.

By 1202, horsebsck rifine hsd declined snd many homes had a bi-
cycle as well as a cerriage. Automobiles were being uvsed in the
city and on rere occss’on one wes even seen out in the country. In
1805 in far-off North Carclinse, the Wright Zrothers had meade the
first successfuvl flight of &sn hesvier-thane-air machine.

It was in 1903 that it wess resolved to ~et subscriptions for the
purvose of collecting money to put in a new furrnsce under the church
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: This wes an sctive year! It wss necesssry to build a new founda-
tion well under the church building. "The wsll should be 8 inches
thick with abutwments 12 inches squere end 2s many es deemed necessary.
The entire basement should be 3 feet above pround. Also, a platform —~
6 feet long end as wide as the building, 26 fest, be erected in front
of the church to which the stairs, 14 feet wide be attached. The
church and manse are to be repsinted slste colored. Blinds to be
fixed to all windous of the nanse, and the ceiling of the church to
be white washed. TFences are to be made sround the church yard and
painted slate colored so as to ake it arrec with the color of the
buildings." To cornlete the "new look" civen the church structure
by these improvewents, the Ladies!' Pastor's Socliety had the bell cast
and when it was finished, it was 2rezented to the church.

These events seem so every day,--but to bring the picture into
focus, we must realize that dvring the 1£20's, welking wes the favor-
ite mode of trensportetion. Horseback riders were rsre in the coun-
tryside, but most families hed oxen. Anpleton's Fifth Reader was used
in the schools and tae students of litersture were resding works by
¥Walt Vhitman, Bugene Field, lark Twain, and 0. Henry.

The next yesr, 1281, started us off on a new sctivity,--that of
a "lieek of Prayer,'" which was to be observed the first week of the
New Year, and if Providence indicate or demand s continuation of the
meetinss, they shell be continued some time loncer. Weekly prayer
. meetings were to be held regulsrly each Vednesday night. The Pastor
was to present the benefits and necessity of such meetings. In August
.,34.00 was collected at a "Iissionfeast."

1832 started off with an attempt to clesr up the church debt.
Each member shall contribute sccording to his own ability. Tolerance
and understanding seered to have talken over as the code of the day,
for one boy didn't nass his catechism test but wss received into
Church membershin at a special Session meeting on his profession of
faith in Christ.

1887 wcs & yesr of extensive review. In Jenusry, the Church
tressurer was unzble to oresent s full renort of the finances of the
church and was requested to lay his books before the officers of the
churech for their inspection. In ‘srch, the Session was to review the
Church Register, officislly notifying those absent nenbers whose exsac
address is known thet they ask for s letter of dismission to another
church and to drop from the roll the names of those wlose address is
unknown. Within the next yesr, the record indicstes that the Elders
were to officially visit the families of the church and congreration,
espec:ally those that needed encourageent or admonition to & strict
attendance to their seversl duties as Church members,

: It is also worthy of note thst although traveling wss hard, and
consumed many hours of time, the German Presbiterisn Church of Wood-
stock, Illinois, a distance of over 30 miles, requested our pastor's
services one Sabboth in esch wonth as a termorary nrovision. The
Session asked the minister to »ropose to the German Presbyterian

Church of ‘oodstock tlie nlan to preach to the congregation 2 Sabboth
evenings in each month until a pastor should he secured. i

The following year, 1888, the Genersl Assembly requested that
the psstor publicly present their pronositions to raise in comwemor-
ation of the Centennial year, One i7illion Dollars as an Endowment
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dry and the fire spresd. On lionday morning, October 10, George Rock-
enbsch, who lived near Wheeling, took a load of ocats, potatoes, butter
and eges to Chicaro. He heard of the ¢ity burning when he resched
Niles, but proceeded because he figures that food was necessary. He
brought back a loasd of furniture, his brother Fred, and lirs. ilertin
Stanger to the home of Daniel Stanger in Wheeling., The fire illumin-
sted the area so brillisntly thet a newspaner could be read 1n Wheel-
ing and Deerfield et iiidnight. Two hundred fifty persons were killed;
17,450 buildinps were destroyed with {196 million dollars worth of
damage.

Just 3 dsys after Christmas in 1871, the consregation re joiced
to learn of the birth of twins, Anne end Jinna Schwingel. The infants
were baptized on February 22, 1872. During this sare year, the birth
and baptism of Kerl (Charles) llurbsch, the son of the young couvle
married in 1867, was recorded. To our knowledge, lir. Cherles llurbach
is the oldest living verson baptized in our church as an infant.

But, to make a church s living home, every facet of human living
must enter snd leave its nortals and find strength snd humility at
its altar, In Februsry of 1873, one family laid to rest 7 children
in the interim of one short month, probsbly viectims of the cholera
epidemic which swept the country st thet time. Only God must know
the dignity of such human tregedy.

By 1875, under the psstorate of the Revereng: Charles Selden, our
church made a: missionsry offering of ,6.75 to the Board of Home Miss-
jons. That yesr the sslary of the minister was {430. The Session of
our church submitted its records from 1864 to 1875 to Presbytery for
insvection. The approval of the records wes given with the recommenda
tion that the records be kept in the English language.

By 1876, the storm of discontent was brewing, and at the Congre-
gational meeting held on Jsnuary 2nd, the office of trustees wass trans
ferred upon the Elders and Descons. In addition, 211 paners which
were the property of this church were ordered troansferred from the
holder to another member. Affairs were not strazightened out for some
little timel

These next few years stand out as crucisl in the annals of our
church history. Apparently each dry twig added fuel to the fire until
the smolderings erupted in 1878, on St. Patrick's Dey, of all days!
Thus it wes on erch 17th that the following item anpeared on the
record:

"Whereas it appears that wmany families reside at Vtheeling and
Vieinity, who never attend Church, neither are they willing to support
the congregation with their earthly Ifeans--the floney; but if they have
a child to be Bantised or Lords Supper to he taken, or if they have
funeral, they want the Church to be opened end the pastor to aduin-
ister to them. Therefore:. Resolved: That in the future, the church
be closed for the above named peonle snd facts; and the Pastor of our
church shall not administer to them in the church or the use of God."

The practicality of the above items is ziven to the wisdom of
the pastor.

The final sentence giving the psstor discretion of carrying out
this resolution at least tempers the situation a trifle. However,



like the rosr of an zirplane.

The sarly communitics and homes lived by the code of "industry"
and waste not--went not, for it was only by this rigid selfdiscinline
that the families covlé survive. One helnsd the other. Few people
hed money, at lesst in any quantity. For exe'wle: In 1841, one of
the early settlers purchased s fsrm on ilwaukee Ave. near "heeling
for $4.00 per acre. The orizinsl owner hsd peid the rovernment §1.25
per acre.

The Germen and Alsatian women had brought spinning wheels with
them, so that they could make yarn for knitted gsrments. They also
made a large knitted scarf that took the place of an overcoat. Very
little, if any, of the wool wss carded at home. lost of it was taken
to Elgin for this process. They also made cowforters of the carded
wool which were wonderfully warm without being extremely heavy.

During the early 1850's a four-horse rake wss used as a welcome
successor %o the bacli-breaking grsin cradle.

The mail stage between Waukegan and Chicazo by way of Liberty-
ville, Half Day, and Vheeling wes started in 1855. German was the
language of the residents.

The general progress of the area was reflected by the industry of
the people. They, who were creating homes out of wilderness and
prairie, were not neglecting the s»niritusl values. They were simple
people in many ways. Their wants were few beyond actual necessities.
Indeed, it was cause for great rejoicing end thankfulness when crops
were safely harvested, or when a winter passed without serious illness.

In 1845 the first Evangelical Associstion Church was being built
on Plagge's Hill. This church was used three years snd was not large
enough to accommodate the peonle, so they moved it to the northwest
corner of Dundee Road and ssnders Road. Later another church wes buili
in this sawe locstion with old fashioned straight seats, a double row
in the center with an aisle on each side and seats on the other side
of the aisle against the wall,.

Vhere is Plagpe's Hill, you esk?--Why, that is now part of Sports-
man's Golf Course where the square house stands next to Dundee Road.
The top of that hill is actually the divide bstween the 3St. Lawrence
and the liississippl waterways. By natursl course, all water east of
this point found its way into the St. Lawrence River and all water
west of this point found its way to the Mississivni River.

During these years, Chica-o had grown substantislly. By 1872,
one hundred five miles of wster nipe had been leid in the city; and
in 1873 the city had constructed a tunnel beneath the lake through
which to draw pure water.

But, this was Chicago! People of the area north of the city were
busy leading their own lives and were only remotely affected by the
city and its growth. It wes during this period that some of the
people of the first congregation of the Gerrman Evangelical Calvinist
or Reformed United Lutheran Church (founded in 1845) joined the group
in Wheeling. Among these were the Lesser, Koebelin, and Sigwalt fam-
ilies. : .
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